
 

 

Local Access Forum  - 19 October 2022 1 

 

BRECON BEACONS NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY 

 

 

Dear LAF Member 

A meeting of the LOCAL ACCESS FORUM will be held at BBNPA HQ, Plas Y 

Ffynnon, Cambrian Way, Brecon LD3 7HP on WEDNESDAY, 19TH 

OCTOBER, 2022 AT 2.00 PM when your attendance is requested. 

 

It will be assumed that all papers and documents distributed in advance of 

the meeting have been read. 

 

 

1  WELCOME AND APOLOGIES (CHAIRMAN)  

2  CONFIRMATION OF MINUTES OF 5TH MEETING HELD ON 

30TH JUNE 2022  (CHAIRMAN) (Pages 3 - 6) 

 To authorise the Chairman to sign the minutes as a true record of the 

previous meeting. 

  

3  MATTERS ARISING NOT OTHERWISE APPEARING ON AGENDA  

(CHAIRMAN)  

4  CANALS, COMMUNITIES AND WELL BEING PROJECT UPDATE  

(KEIRA DOBBY)  

5  ACCESS IMPROVEMENT GRANT UPDATE  (JUDITH HARVEY)  

6  BBNPA ACCESS MANAGEMENT  (SIMONE LOWTHE-THOMAS)  

7  TRIG POINTS IN THE BRECON BEACONS NATIONAL PARK  

(PHIL O'SHEA)  

8  PUBLIC SPACES PROTECTION ORDER FOR DOG CONTROLS 

Public Document Pack



 

 

 

 

Local Access Forum  - 19 October 2022 2 

 

IN MONMOUTHSHIRE  (EIFION JONES) (Pages 7 - 28) 

 See Annex 1 

9  RIGHTS OF WAY CONSULTATIONS (EIFION JONES)  

10  ANY OTHER COMPETENT BUSINESS  (CHAIRMAN)  

 

Any enquiries about this agenda should be addressed to Richard Ball – 

Richard.Ball@beacons-npa.gov.uk  

 

 

mailto:Richard.Ball@beacons-npa.gov.uk


Brecon Beacons National Park Local Access Forum  

Unconfirmed Minutes of the 5th Meeting held at 2pm on Thursday 30th June 

2022 at BBNPA Offices, Brecon 

Present 

Ian Mabberley (IM) – Chair 

Richard Ball (RB) – Secretary  

Pam Bell (PB) 

Philippa Cherryson (PC) 

Karen Harris (KH) 

Nick Lancaster (NL) 

Denis Murphy (DM) 

Steve Rayner (SR)  

Paul Sinnadurai (PS) 

Kath Whitrow (KW) 

 

Observers 

Eifion Jones (EJ)  BBNPA 

Lisa Lloyd    BBNPA 

Edwin Roderick  BBNPA Member 

Phil O’Shea   Brecon Beacons Park Society 

 

1. Welcome and Apologies 

IM Welcomed members and observers to the meeting. Apologies were received from, 

Hywel Morgan, Ian Jenkins, Rachel Chapel, Roz Smart, Sion James, Michael Smith (NRW), 

Judith Harvey (BBNPA), James Lawrence (BBNPA) and Simone Lowthe-Thomas (BBNPA). 

 

Confirmation of Minutes of 4th Meeting held on 3rd March 2022  

The minutes were accepted, and the Chair authorised to sign them as a correct record. 

 

2. Matters arising not otherwise appearing on agenda 

Llyn y Fan - HM sent his apologies and asked if he could be provided with an update on access 

improvements on the Llyn y Fan Track. DCWW have a two-year programme of works 

planned for Llyn y fan including works at the filter bed area, it is hoped that access 

improvements will be carried out as part of these works. 

 

4.  Safety Issues Relating to Cows and Calves (Kath Whitrow) 

KW highlighted the need to educate the public and the messaging provided around the issue 

of keeping dogs on leads as the advice should be different depending on the livestock 

present and noted it’s counterintuitive to let a dog off the lead if feeling threatened when 

walking through a field of cows/calves.  

 

KW asked if the National Park has a responsibility to improve signage and education around 

the issue of dogs and cattle? and suggested it would it be worth having information on the 

BBNPA website and looking at additional signage on NP common land which is grazed by 

cattle. 

 

Page 3

Agenda Item 2



RB advised that it would be for individual landowners to assess the risk of having cattle in a 

field crossed by a right of way and provide their own suitable messaging. 

 

IM said that the Welsh Government (WG) ARAG reform information he had received 

relating to dog on leads, states ‘keep your dog on a short, fixed length lead’ with no specific 

messaging around cattle.  

 

Members agree that IM should raise the question of dogs on lead messaging at the National 

Access Forum. 

 

5.  Access Improvement Grant (Eifion Jones) 

EJ presented members with the details of the proposed projects for the WG Access 

Improvement Grant funding for 2022 – 2025 for noting. EJ explained that funding has moved 

from annual to 3 year funding and BBNPA would receive £268K over 3 years.  

 

One of the requirements of the grant funding is that at least one project should fit within 

each of the specified WG focus areas.  

 

A member raised a concern that there were not many proposed projects in 

Carmarthenshire. EJ explained that there was a much smaller rights of way network and less 

bridges compared with Powys and Monmouthshire. Carmarthenshire is also funded 

differently to the rest of the National Park as it provides capital as well as a revenue budget. 

The capital budget has been used to replace a number of bridges in Carmarthenshire over 

the past few years. 

 

There was a general discussion around the proposed projects and LAF members agreed to 

approve the AIG project proposals. 

 

6.  Issues Regarding Tree Planting on Access Land (Kath Whitrow) 

KW asked if the LAF had a view on the planting of trees on Access Land and if the LAF is 

going to be consulted on individual proposals as there are an increasing number of 

applications? 

 

PS advised that the BBNPA is a consultee on Glastir Woodland Creation proposals. The 

consultation is circulated to relevant officers and a combined response submitted. PS 

emphasised that there is no means to intervene in private schemes. 

 

RB highlighted that there is potential for the loss of access as planting on open country 

would result in the area ceasing to be open country due to the percentage of canopy cover. 

If planting occurs on common land, then access will remain. 

 

 

 

Page 4



 

 

7. Waterfalls and Infrastructure Projects (James Lawrence) 

JL provided the LAF with a written update.  

Members discussed how numbers visiting the Waterfalls area could be managed.  SR said 

that the meet and greet staff have had a positive beneficial impact over the past two years 

and suggested that activity providers could play a part by interacting with the visitors.  

 

It was agreed to invite JL and Paul Dann (NRW) to the next meeting to provide an update 

and discuss visitor management. 

 

8. Gwent Regional Access Group 

Richard Garner (RG) of Gwent Green Grid project provided LAF members with an 

overview of the 3 year European and Welsh Government funded project, looking at green 

infrastructure projects. RG is responsible for the access element of the project and is 

looking to identify and carry out a programme of access improvement work to facilitate 

access to the green infrastructure projects. A Gwent Regional Access Group is going to be 

established and RG invited the BBNP LAF to provide a representative and asked for 

suggestions for projects in the area. 

 

PC offered to be a liaison between the BBNP LAF and the Gwent Access Group. EJ and RG 

would discuss possible projects to be put forward for consideration. 

 

 

9. Canoe Access River Wye – Glasbury to Hay-on-Wye (Steve Rayner) 

SR provided members with an update. Launching at Glas-y-Bont Common, Glasbury was 

suspended in April 2021 by Powys CC while they carried out a Habitats Regulation 

Assessment (HRA), the process is still ongoing and NRW have advised that restrictions on 

commercial operations should be imposed to prevent harm to fish species during their 

spawning season. NRW have recommended that the river from Glasbury to Hay be closed 

to paddlers (other than professionally guided and educational groups and individual 

recreational users) in May and June each year. This amounts to a ban on canoe hire 

operations on the river during these months. 

 

SWOAPG is discussing with PCC a ‘Concordat’ arrangement and Code of Conduct for 

paddlesport operations at Glas-y-Bont – similar in principle to the arrangement we have 

with NRW and BBNPA for gorge-walking in Waterfall Country. 

 

The launching suspension at Glas-y-Bont had a significant impact on activity at The Gliss in 

Hay, with many operators simply moving their activities downstream. To this end Hay Town 

Council (HTC) agreed with SWOAPG last year some simple arrangements to minimise 

conflict between canoe operators and local residents. Early this year they proposed to 

introduce a formal Code of Conduct that would apply to paddlesport operators using the 

Page 5



site, but before this was finalised, they learned that they also were required to undertake a 

HRA and that NRW was likely to advise the same restrictions for operations at The Gliss as 

at Glas-y-Bont. It therefore seems prudent to consider arrangements for both locations 

together, especially as they are the public launch points at either end of this most popular 

stretch of the river! However, we’ve heard nothing further from HTC since mid April and it 

may be that the long-term absence of the Town Clerk combined with Council elections may 

have put this on their ‘back-burner’: in the meantime, paddlesport operations are continuing 

at The Gliss in line with the arrangements agreed last year. 

 

10. Canals, Communities and Wellbeing Feedback (Karen Harris/Secretary) 

RB provided an update. Keira Dobby has been appointed as Project Officer and is currently 

looking at the projects to take forward. A stakeholder meeting was recently organised 

to look at the proposals around Llangattock. KH attended the meeting and several issues 

around disability access were raised at the meeting. One of the aims of the CCW project is 

to improve access for as many people as possible. 

 

KH has visited some sites in BBNP to assess the suitability for wheelchair and mobility 

vehicle access. KH presented a slideshow covering access to footpath, path surfaces, gates, 

disabled car parking and passing places.  

 

11. Rights of Way Consultations (Eifion Jones) 

EJ confirmed that there had been no adverse comments to the recent consultations that had 

been sent out to LAF Members. 

 

12. Any other competent business 

NL advised that there is a legal requirement for bikes to be fitted with a bell, a lot of cyclists 

using paths such as along the canal towpath don’t have a bell and it puts people off using the 

paths as they don’t know when cyclists are approaching. Is it possible to have signage 

installed at various locations to remind them to please remember to ring a bell when 

approaching pedestrians? RB agreed to look into it. 

 

As it was PS’s last LAF meeting, IM thanked him for all the help and guidance 

that he has provided the LAF. 

 

Date of the next meeting – 22nd September 2022 

Page 6



 

 

 

                                                              PUBLIC CONSULTATION  

HAVE YOUR SAY ON PLANS TO INTRODUCE A PUBLIC SPACES PROTECTION ORDER ON DOG 

CONTROLS IN MONMOUTHSHIRE 

CONSULTATION START DATE 26th July 2021   CONSULTATION END DATE 26th October 2021 

BACKGROUND: 

Monmouthshire County Council has responsibility for the management and maintenance of public 

spaces across the county, of which we are fortunate to have so many amazing locations. The wealth 

of our open spaces is a huge attraction to residents, businesses and visitors to the county and 

supports good dog ownership. 

We recognise that the majority of dog owners act responsibly and keep their dog(s) under control, 

which includes clearing up after them in a public place. However the council receives a significant 

number of complaints regarding issues with dogs in public areas, in particular fouling. These 

continue despite the best efforts of the council and its partners to raise awareness of the anti-social 

nature of dog fouling and related matters. 

It is appropriate now to review the current controls in place to ensure they remain relevant and 

effective in maintaining a cleaner, healthier and safer place to live, work and visit. 

The Council is considering the introduction of a Public Spaces Protection Order to set out the dog 

controls in the county.  

WHAT IS A PUBLIC SPACES PROTECTION ORDER (PSPO)? 

Introduced by the Anti - social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 a PSPO is intended to deal 

with any particular persistent and unreasonable behaviour that is having, or likely to have, a 

detrimental effect on the quality of life of persons in a defined area.  

The aim is to stop the unreasonable behaviour in public spaces by introducing restrictions on the use 

of an area. A public space is defined as ‘any place to which the public or any section of the public has 

access, on payment or otherwise, as of right or by virtue of express or implied permission.’ 

A PSPO would replace any current related restrictions in place. Breach of a PSPO restriction is an 

offence liable on conviction in court to a fine of up to £1000. An authorised officer can issue a Fixed 

Penalty Notice of up to £100 In order to give an offender the opportunity of avoiding a breach going 

to court. 

So that fully informed decisions can be made we want to know your views. 

SURVEY 

Please tell us what you think by date 26th October 2021 

Visit: https://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/public-spaces-protection-order-on-dog-controls-in-

monmouthshire/ Telephone to request a survey form: 01873 735420 

Page 7

Agenda Item 8

https://eur03.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.monmouthshire.gov.uk%2Fpublic-spaces-protection-order-on-dog-controls-in-monmouthshire%2F&data=04%7C01%7CHuwOwen%40monmouthshire.gov.uk%7C3196f051a82c4cfa653f08d9503299e2%7C2c4d0079c52c4bb3b3cad8eaf1b6b7d5%7C0%7C0%7C637629000517925453%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=ZmnUeFKTkPOpMb%2BrveaUow%2BryKcx2VMqDL7PQro4wzk%3D&reserved=0
https://eur03.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.monmouthshire.gov.uk%2Fpublic-spaces-protection-order-on-dog-controls-in-monmouthshire%2F&data=04%7C01%7CHuwOwen%40monmouthshire.gov.uk%7C3196f051a82c4cfa653f08d9503299e2%7C2c4d0079c52c4bb3b3cad8eaf1b6b7d5%7C0%7C0%7C637629000517925453%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=ZmnUeFKTkPOpMb%2BrveaUow%2BryKcx2VMqDL7PQro4wzk%3D&reserved=0


                                                                     PUBLIC CONSULTATION 

HAVE YOUR SAY ON PLANS TO INTRODUCE A PUBLIC SPACES PROTECTION ORDER ON DOG 

CONTROLS IN MONMOUTHSHIRE 

 

CONSULTATION START DATE 26th July 2021 

CONSULTATION END DATE 26th October 2021 

 

1. I am competing this survey as: 

O a resident of Monmouthshire 

O a business person 

O an elected member 

O representing a charity or organisation  

O other: 

 

 

Results: 

A resident of Monmouthshire – 1264 
(94.8%) % 
 

A business person – 15 (1.1%) 
 
An elected member – 13 (1%) 
 

Representing a charity or organisation – 15 
(1.1%) 
 

Other – 27 (2%) 
 

 

 

2. Are you a dog owner? 

O Yes  

O No 

Results: 

Yes – 931 (69.8%) 

 No  - 403 (30.2%) 
 

Page 8



3. What is your postcode? 

 

 

DOG FOULING 

Current provisions: 

If a dog fouls at any time on designated land in Monmouthshire and the person in charge of the dog 

fails to remove the faeces, that person is guilty of an offence unless there is a reasonable excuse for 

failing to do so. 

The designated land is provided in the Monmouthshire County Council (Fouling of Land by Dogs) 

(Monmouthshire) Designation Order (No 1) 1998, in Part 1 by general description and Part 2 

specifically. It does not include all public spaces. 

4. Do you consider uncollected dog waste to be an issue where you live, work or visit in 

Monmouthshire? 

O Yes 

O No  

Results: 

Yes – 798 (59.8%) 

 No  - 536 (40.2%) 

 

 

Of the 931 dog owners, 470 (50.5%) said that it is a problem, 461 (49.5%) that its not.  

Of the 403 non dog owners, 328 (81.4%) said that it is a problem, 75 (18.6%) that its not. 

 

5. If yes please give details below: 

 
 

 

Results: 

798 comments provided. In the main responses relate to fouling on pavements, footpaths, 

sports pitches and parks, with a significant number also citing concerns of fouling in more 

remote locations such as canal tow paths, woods etc 

 

Page 9



6. If yes how frequently do you notice uncollected dog waste? 

O Always 

O Frequently 

O Sometimes 

O Rarely 

Results: 

Always – 232 
 

Frequently – 414 
 

Sometimes – 146 
 

Rarely – 6 
 

 

7. Where do you typically see uncollected dog waste: 

O Pavements  

O Public footpaths 

O Play grounds 

O Park land 

O Sports pitches 

O Cemetery 

O Other: 

 
 
 
 
 

 

Results: 

Pavements – 437 
 

Public footpaths – 358 
 

Play grounds – 19 
 

Parkland – 158 
 

Page 10



Sports Pitches – 78 
 
Cemetery – 6 
 

Other – 278 
 

 

278 comments provided in relation to ‘other’ locations including canal tow paths, forestry 

paths, river banks, country lanes. 

 

Do you support a control requiring dog owners to remove dog faeces if their dog fouls any land to 

which the public have access across the county, unless that person can show that: 

- has a reasonable excuse for failing to do so. Please note, being unaware of the fouling, 
whether by reason of not being in the vicinity or otherwise, or not having a device for or 
other suitable means of removing the faeces, shall not be a reasonable excuse. 

- putting the faeces in a receptacle eg a bin, which is provided for the purpose, shall be 
sufficient removal from the land. 

 
8. Do you agree or disagree with this control?  
 
O Yes (agree) 

O No (disagree) 

Results: 

 

 

 

9. Please give reasons for your answer in the box below: 

 

 

Results: 

1304 comments provided. The main theme is public health and responsible dog 

ownership. 

 

 

 

 

Yes – 1163 (87.2%) 

 No  - 171 (12.8%) 

Page 11



DOGS ON LEADS AREAS 

The Council recognises the need for dogs to be exercised off the lead in open spaces. The majority of 

dog owners are able to do so while still keeping their dogs under control. However where dogs are 

not properly controlled this can cause nuisance to other persons and other dogs using the area.  

The Council is mindful that there may be certain public areas where it is not appropriate to allow 

dogs to run free off the lead and is therefore considering the need to require dogs to be on a lead in 

some specified locations. 

10. To what extent do you agree or disagree with requiring dogs to be on leads in the following: 

 Strongly Agree Agree Disagree Strongly 

Disagree 

Children’s 

playgrounds 

    

Marked sports 

pitches 

    

School grounds     

Cemeteries     

 

Results: 

Children’s playgrounds: 1237 agree / strongly agree 92.7%     

 

  

 

 

School grounds: 1239 agree / strongly agree 92.8% 

 

   

 

Strongly Agree 944    70.8% 

Agree 293     22% 

Disagree 66        4.9% 

Strongly 
Disagree 

31        2.3% 

Strongly Agree 878    65.7% 

Agree 361    27.1% 

  Disagree 69       5.2% 

Strongly 
Disagree 

26       2% 

Page 12



Cemeteries: 1141 agree / strongly agree 85.5%     

 

 

Marked sports pitches: 1000 agree / strongly agree 75% 

 
 

 

11. Please give reasons for your answer in the box below. If any area(s) concern you please tell us 

where: 

 

 

Results: 

1272 comments provided. 

Main reasons for agreement include:  

> Safety of children from both out of control dogs and faeces. 

> Children and adults may have a fear of dogs which dog owners do not appear to 

appreciate. 

> Fencing off playground areas would stop dogs having access to a place where children are 

playing. 

> Dogs on leads would lead to owners having more control over their dogs and would 

reduce the amount of uncollected faeces. 

> Dogs on leads would reduce fouling levels on marked sports pitches and school grounds.  

Some people mentioned that it is disrespectful to let dogs roam around in cemeteries 

without being on a lead. 

Strongly Agree 688     51.6% 

Agree 453     34% 

Disagree 150     11.2% 

Strongly 
Disagree 

43        3.2% 

Strongly Agree 727      54.5% 

Agree 273      20.5% 

Disagree 254     19% 

Strongly 
Disagree 

80         6% 

Page 13



Main reasons for disagreement include:  

> Dogs can be under control without being on leads, and dogs require off lead exercise. 

> If the pitches are not being played on it is ok for dogs to be off a lead.   

> Owners should be able to exercise judgement in relation to their dogs. 

> Dogs need a place where they can exercise freely and sports pitches and school grounds, 

outside school times, are such valued spaces. 

> Why the need to over control everything? Do not penalise responsible dog owners with 

well trained dogs. 

12. Are there any other public spaces where you feel dogs should be on a lead? If so please let us 

know the area(s) and your reason: 

 

 

Results: 

872 comments provided. Other than the options given in Q10 other public spaces include: 

public footpaths through fields, cycle paths, Bailey Park, Castle Meadows, Linda Vista 

Gardens, Caldicot Castle, Monmouth Brecon Canal. 

 

DOGS ON LEADS BY DIRECTION 

The Council is considering a new offence for failing to put a dog on a lead, of no more than 2 metres 

length, when directed to do so by an authorised officer where the dog is considered to be out of 

control or causing alarm or distress or to prevent a nuisance. This would assist officers dealing with 

problems when they arise without introducing overly restrictive measures on all dog owners. 

13. Do you agree or disagree with this as a new offence? 

O Yes (agree) 

O No (disagree)  

Results: 

Yes – 1073 (80.4%) 

 No  - 261 (19.6%) 

 

 

Of the 931 dog owners, 702 (75.4%) agreed with this as a new offence. 

Of the 403 non dog owners, 371 (92.1%) greed with this as a new offence. 

 

Page 14



14. Please give reasons for your answer in the box below: 

 

 

Results: 

1242 comments provided, the main response that it is a sensible, reasonable approach; 

although a number of strong opinions against including concerns over the practicality and 

nature of enforcement. 

DOG EXCLUSION AREAS 

The Council recognises the importance of outdoor exercise and play to good health and well being. It 

is vital that public spaces are accessible and child friendly as possible. Concern is raised on occasions 

that dogs should not be allowed access to certain areas as they impact on the use and enjoyment of 

those areas. 

The Council is therefore considering the need to exclude dogs from some specified public spaces. 

15. To what extent do you agree or disagree with the exclusion of dogs from the following: 

 Strongly Agree Agree Disagree Strongly 

Disagree 

Children’s 

playgrounds 

    

Marked sports 

pitches 

    

School grounds     

Cemeteries     

 

Results: 

Children’s playgrounds: 955 agree / strongly agree 71.6% 

  

 

School grounds: 897 agree / strongly agree 67.2% 

Strongly Agree 700    52.5% 

Agree 255    19.1% 

Disagree 257    19.3% 

Strongly 
disagree 

122     9.1% 

Strongly Agree 607   45.5% 

Agree 290    21.7% 

Disagree 312   23.4% 

Page 15



  

 

 

Marked sports pitches: 743 agree / strongly agree 55.7% 

  

 

 

 

Cemeteries: 676 disagree / strongly disagree 50.7% 

 

 

 

 

 

16. Please give reasons for your answer in the box below. If any area(s) concern you please tell us 

where: 

 

 

Results: 

1229 comments provided. 

Main reasons for agreement include: 

These places are not suitable for dogs: 

- Dogs shouldn’t be in these areas. 

- Plenty of other places to walk dogs without being in these places 

- These places are not suitable as dog exercising places.  

- Unless a support dog  

- Even responsible owners may miss fouling, let alone irresponsible who do not pick 

up 

Public health / safety:  

- Fouling can cause public health issues  

- Not all mess is collected by responsible / irresponsible owners 

Strongly 
disagree 

125     9.4% 

Strongly Agree 531    39.8% 

Agree 212    15.9% 

Strongly 
disagree 

218    16.3% 

Disagree 373     28% 

Disagree 464      34.8% 

Strongly 
Disagree 

212      15.9% 

Agree 297      22.2% 

Strongly agree 361     27.1% 

Page 16



- People / elderly/children can feel intimidated/scared around dogs- should be 

protected 

- Dog mess is a health hazard, and these places should be protected 

- Not everyone likes dogs  

 

Not in children’s areas:  

- Dogs should not be around areas where kids are playing 

- Children should feel safe when playing 

- Kids areas should be fenced off to distinguish playground areas.  

- If play areas are fenced off, it allows the rest of the area to be safe for dogs  

 

Main reasons for disagreement include:  

No Exclusion- Leads/control preferred:  

- Exclusion too far, dogs on leads in these areas is suitable 

No exclusion- Family members:  

- Dogs are part of the family so should be included.  

- Many dogs are walked as part of the school run / sports matches to spectate so this 

will limit the access for families and be detrimental to all concerned. As long as the 

dogs are on a lead and owners responsible should not exclude.  

 

No Exclusions- responsible owners:  

- As responsible dog owners, people feel this is too far 

- Majority of people are responsible owners  

Allow dogs in cemeteries:  

- Many people take dogs to graves to help with support and grief 

- They are part of the family.  

- As long as they are on leads they should still be allowed in to cemeteries.  

- They act as a support to many elderly residents visiting graves 

17. Are there any other public spaces you feel dogs should be excluded from? If so please let us 

know the area(s) and your reason: 

 

 

Results: 

446 comments provided. Other than the options provided in Q15 other public spaces 

include:  

- Town centre/shops/eateries 

- Parks/gardens/picnic areas 

Page 17



- Canal towpaths/cycle paths 

- Farm land/Nature reserves 

- Public areas/green spaces/public events 

Comments not in favour of Dog Exclusion Areas include following themes: 

- To many restrictions as it is 

- Shouldn’t be excluded just on a lead is suffice 

- Biased against dog owners 

- Restricting where dogs can be walked 

- Owners with dogs should be encouraged as part of tourism 

- Increase enforcement and education- punish those irresponsible.  

- Dogs are family members, as long as under control should be with the family.  

 

ADDITIONAL COMMENTS 

18. Please add any further comments regarding the proposed Public Spaces Protection Order on 

dog controls in the box below: 

 

 

Results: 

591 comments provided.  

Main themes: 

> Generally not supportive of further restrictions / feel is unnecessary / should not be a 

focus for the council (87 comments). 

> Generally Supportive of intervention (51 comments). 

> Suggest should enforce existing laws / more wardens or improve signage (43 

comments). 

> Suggest it is punishing the majority due to the actions of a minority (42 comments). 

> Should provide dog friendly areas for dogs off leads etc / if restrictions imposed (36 

comments). 

> Questions how it will be enforced/policed/cost implications (32 comments). 

> Emphasise the importance of or suggest the need more dog bins (31 comments). 

> Suggest there should be a focus on education/training for dog owners of dogs (17 

comments). 

19. If you feel that any of these proposals will affect you as an individual because of any of the 

following (age, disability, gender reassignment, marital status, pregnancy and maternity, race, 

Page 18



religious belief, sex, sexual orientation, use of Welsh language, BSL or other languages) please give 

details below. 

 

 

Results: 

234 comments provided.  

Main themes: 

> concerns for persons with certain disabilities not being able to pick up dog faeces. 

> impact of restricting access to parks, playing fields etc may have on persons with mobility 

issues and the elderly. 

Other matters include: 

> Impact on tax payer/financial implication. 

> Bring standards up for irresponsible dog owners, better protection of children. 

> Physical and mental well being negatively affected for dog owners. 

> Enforcement. 

> Dog owners rights, increase abandonment. 

> Safety of dog owners especially females having to walk dogs in more isolated areas. 

 

Thank you for taking the time to complete the survey. If completing a paper version please return to 

Environmental Health, Monmouthshire County Council, County Hall, The Rhadyr, Usk, NP15 1GA 

Data Protection and Confidentiality - We comply with all legislation governing the protection of 

personal information, including the Data Protection Act 2018 and the General Data Protection 

Regulations (GDPR). Any personal information you supply will remain strictly confidential and 

anonymous and will be held and used in line with the Data Protection Act 2018. For more 

information about privacy, please visit: https://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/your-privacy/  

If you have any concerns or questions about the survey, require the questionnaire in another 

language or format or simply require assistance in completing the form please telephone 01873 

735420 or email environmentalhealth@monmouthshire.gov.uk and we will be happy to help. 

 

Page 19

https://eur03.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.monmouthshire.gov.uk%2Fyour-privacy%2F&data=04%7C01%7CHuwOwen%40monmouthshire.gov.uk%7Ccf44135ec5f84210808b08d9451a1239%7C2c4d0079c52c4bb3b3cad8eaf1b6b7d5%7C0%7C0%7C637616800532084223%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=5vVan9oYnrMcZeiKIQFo9F518Dnhf4ynHhezWlpsV1w%3D&reserved=0
mailto:environmentalhealth@monmouthshire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1. PURPOSE: 

 

1.1 To inform Members of the findings of a public consultation on plans to introduce a Public 

Spaces Protection Order, (PSPO), for dog controls in Monmouthshire under the provisions 

of the Anti–Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014.  

 

1.2 To seek endorsement from Members to progress consultation with stakeholders 

responsible for public spaces in the county, including relevant council departments, town 

and community councils and private landowners, regarding the controls needed (dog 

fouling, dogs on leads / exemption locations) and areas in the county to be covered in a 

PSPO by such controls. 

 

1.3 To seek endorsement from Members for a draft PSPO, when progressed, to include: an 

offence for a person in charge of a dog when in a public space in the county failing to put a 

dog on a lead, of no more than 2 metres length, when directed to do so by an authorised 

officer where the dog is considered to be out of control or causing alarm or distress or to 

prevent a nuisance. 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS: 

 

2.1 Members consider the findings of the public consultation and comment accordingly on the 

potential introduction of a PSPO for dog controls relating to fouling, exclusion areas and 

dogs on leads areas for public spaces in the county. 

 

2.2 Environmental Health share the findings of the public consultation on dog fouling and dogs 

on leads / exemption areas, with relevant stakeholders responsible for public spaces in the 

county, to establish what controls, if any,  they consider are needed and to identify specific 

locations accordingly.  

 

2.3 Members consider, comment on and endorse the proposal for a draft PSPO, when 

progressed, to include for the following  offence: for a person in charge of a dog when in a 

public space in the county failing to put a dog on a lead, of no more than 2 metres length, 

when directed to do so by an authorised officer where the dog is considered to be out of 

control, or causing alarm or distress or to prevent a nuisance.  

SUBJECT: PUBLIC SPACES PROTECTION ORDER FOR DOG CONTROLS 
 
MEETING:    Strong Communities Select Committee 
 
DATE:           10th March 2022 
 
DIVISION/WARDS AFFECTED:   All 

 

Page 21



2 
 

 

2.4      That a third report is presented to this Committee, following engagement with relevant 

stakeholders (as outlined in 2.2), to endorse a further public consultation on a draft Public 

Spaces Protection Order, if one is considered to be needed. 

 

2.5      That a fourth and final report is then provided to this Committee, further to public 

consultation feedback on the draft PSPO, for pre-decision scrutiny before the Order goes 

to Cabinet or Individual Cabinet Member, (Cabinet Member for Social Justice & 

Community Development), for decision.  

 

3. KEY ISSUES: 

 

3.1 A report to Members on the 12th March 2020 illustrated that, despite the efforts of 

responsible dog owners and many partners, dog fouling continues to be a problem in 

public spaces in the county. Fouling issues are often the trigger for requests for controls to 

be introduced in public spaces such as dogs on leads or exemption areas. While it is 

important that collaborative working on a local level continues through initiatives such as 

the Give Dog Fouling the Red Card group, it is also important that the Authority makes full 

use of the tools provided by legislation.  

 
3.2 The Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 introduced new powers for use by 

Councils to address anti-social behaviour, including Public Spaces Protection Orders 

(PSPOs). Under the provisions of the Act, local authorities must be satisfied on reasonable 

grounds that the activity subject to an Order: 

- has, or is likely to have, a detrimental effect on the quality of life of those in the locality. 

- is, or is likely to be, persistent or continuing in nature. 

- is, or is likely to be, unreasonable. 

- justifies the restrictions being imposed. 

 

3.3 The aim is to stop the unreasonable behaviour in public spaces by introducing restrictions 

on the use of an area. A public space is defined as ‘any place to which the public or 

any section of the public has access, on payment or otherwise, as of right or by 

virtue of express or implied permission.’ 

3.4 When assessing what is ‘unreasonable’ activity, there is a need to balance the rights of the 

community to enjoy public spaces, with the civil liberties of individuals and groups who 

may be affected by any restrictions imposed. The March 2020 report recommendation to 

Members to endorse a public consultation on the introduction of a PSPO for dog controls, 

was agreed. 

3.5      The public consultation was delayed by the emergence of Covid 19. A wide ranging 3 

month consultation was undertaken from the 26th July to 26th October 2021.This 

comprised a bilingual introductory note explaining the PSPO considerations and a 

questionnaire. It was provided on the Council’s website for completion online, with a paper 

copy available on request. Awareness to the survey was raised on the Council’s social 

media accounts and direct messaging including to elected members, local business 

Page 22



3 
 

groups, dog interest organisations (RSPCA, Dogs Trust, Kennel Club), private landowners 

with responsibility for public areas and registered sports clubs. 

3.6      The introductory note and questionnaire is provided in Appendix 1. A total of 1330 were 

completed online and 4 paper copy returns, the vast majority 1264 (94.8%), marked as 

completed by residents; 931 (69.8%) of the returns by dog owners.  

3.7     The consultation sought views on the need for dog controls in a PSPO with regard to 

fouling, dog exemption areas and dogs on leads. The summary headlines are as follows, 

with a more detail analysis of the results inserted, for ease of reference, in each relevant 

section of the questionaire in Appendix 1. 

3.8      Dog Fouling. Currently the issue of dog fouling is addressed in the County through the 

Dogs (Foulng of Land) Act 1996. However the offence of failing to remove the faeces only 

covers certain designated land, as detailed in the Monmouthshire County Council (Fouling 

of Land by Dogs) (Monmouthshire) Designation Order (No 1) 1998, in Part 1 by general 

description and Part 2 specifically. It does not include all public spaces.  

3.9      PSPOs enable a more wide ranging application and may apply to any public place as 

defined in paragraph 3.3. 

3.10    The consultation results provide: 

• 798 (59.8%) consider dog fouling to be a problem, 536 (40.2%) that it is not.  

 

• Of the 798 who said fouling is a problem the majority 646 (81%) state they notice 

uncollected dog waste Always / Frequently, while 152 (19%) Sometimes / Rarely. 

 

• Of the 931 dog owners, 470 (50.5%) said that it is a problem, 461 (49.5%) that its 

not.  

 

• Of the 403 non dog owners, 328 (81.4%) said that it is a problem, 75 (18.6%) that 

its not. 

 

• 795 (59.6%) said they typically see uncollected dog waste on pavements or public 

footpaths; 158(11.8%) on parkland; 78 (5.8%) on sports pitches; 19 (1.4%) on 

playgrounds; 6 (0.5%) in cemeteries; 278 (20.8%) other locations. 

 

• 1163 (87.2%) support a control requiring dog owners to remove dog faeces if their 

dog fouls any land to which the public have access across the county; 171 (12.8%) 

do not. 

 

•  A response was received from the Dog’s Trust (full response provided in Appendix 

2) which included the following: 

 

Dogs Trust consider ‘scooping the poop’ to be an integral element of responsible 

dog ownership and would fully support a well-implemented order on fouling.  We 

urge the Council to enforce any such order rigorously. In order to maximise 

Page 23



4 
 

compliance we urge the Council to consider whether an adequate number of 

disposal points have been provided for responsible owners to use, to consider 

providing free disposal bags and to ensure that there is sufficient signage in place.  

3.11    It is evident from the consultation that the failure to ‘pick up’ after a dog has fouled 

continues to be an important issue in our environment which has a detrimental effect on 

the quality of life. This is likely to continue, despite the continuing efforts of responsible 

dog owners and the ongoing collaborative work with Town and Community Councils.  

3.12    Therefore a provision in a draft PSPO requiring people to clean up after their dogs, which 

foul on any public space in the county, appears to be a justified, proportionate response to 

the ongoing fouling problems. A public space may be privately owned, eg by the Canal 

and Rivers Trust, Registered Social landlords, Woodland Trust, NRW etc. These and other 

landowners were included in the consultation but minimal response received. It is 

therefore recommended that a further approach is made to inform them of the findings of 

the consultation, and seek their endorsement for all public space to be included in a draft 

PSPO. 

3.13    Dogs on Leads by Direction. Of those who responded to the consultation 1073 (80.4%) 

agreed to a new offence for failing to put a dog on a lead, of no more than 2 metres length, 

when directed to do so by an authorised officer where the dog is considered to be out of 

control or causing alarm or distress or to prevent a nuisance. This proposal was 

‘enthusiastically’ supported by the  Dogs Trust in their response: 

We consider that this order is by far the most useful, other than the fouling order, because 

it allows enforcement officers to target the owners of dogs that are allowing them to cause 

a nuisance without restricting the responsible owner and their dog. As none of the other 

orders, less fouling, are likely to be effective without proper enforcement we would be 

content if the others were dropped in favour of this order.  

3.14    In view of this consistent consultation response it is recommended that when a draft 

PSPO is progressed and consulted on it includes a county wide offence for failing to put 

a dog on a lead, of no more than 2 metres length, when directed to do so by an 

authorised officer where the dog is considered to be out of control or causing alarm 

or distress or to prevent a nuisance. This is a fair, proportionate means of dealing with 

dog control issues as they occur. 

3.15    Dogs on Leads Areas and Dog Exclusion Areas. These were considered in the 

consultation in response to concerns regarding fouling, dogs not properly controlled and 

the need for certain areas to be child or sporting user friendly. 

3.16    A summary of the consultation responses is provided in the table below: 

 Dogs on Leads Areas 
 

Dog Exclusion Areas 

Children’s playgrounds 
 

1237 (92.7%) agree / 
strongly agree. 
 

955 (71.6%) agree / 
strongly agree. 

Marked sports pitches 
 

1000 (75%) agree / strongly 
agree 

743 (55.7%) agree / 
strongly agree. 

Page 24



5 
 

 

School grounds 
 

1239 (92.8%) agree / 
strongly agree. 
 

897 (67.2%) agree / 
strongly agree. 

Cemeteries 
 

1141 (85.5%) agree / 
strongly agree. 
 

676 (50.7%) disagree / 
strongly disagree. 

   

3.17    Specifically with regard to Dogs on Leads Areas over 2100 comments were received for 

the 2 open dialogue questions. Reasons given for agreeing to such areas include owners 

having more control over their dogs so reducing the amount of uncollected faeces; reduce 

fouling levels on marked sports pitches / school grounds; and safety of children from out of 

control dogs. Reasons given for those in disagreement include dogs can be under control 

without being on leads and dogs require off lead exercise. 

3.18    Other public spaces are proposed in a number of survey responses for dogs to be kept on 

a lead including parks, canal tow paths etc as detailed in Appendix 1. 

3.19    The Dogs Trust accepted that ‘there are some areas where it is desirable that dogs should 

be kept on a lead’ but ‘urge the Council to consider the Animal Welfare Act 2006 section 9 

requirements (the 'duty of care') that include the dog's need to exhibit normal behaviour 

patterns – this includes the need for sufficient exercise including the need to run off lead in 

appropriate areas’. 

3.20    Specifically with regard to Dog Exclusion Areas over 1650 comments were received for 

the 2 open dialogue questions. Again the main themes for those who agree / disagree and 

other public spaces proposed are given in Appendix 1. 

3.21    The Dogs Trust ‘accepts that there are some areas where it is desirable that dogs should 

be excluded, such as children’s play areas, however we would recommend that exclusion 

areas are kept to a minimum and that, for enforcement reasons, they are restricted to 

enclosed areas’. The Trust advised ‘excluding dogs from all sports pitches for long 

stretches of the year is unnecessary. In some cases sports pitches may account for a 

large part of the open space available in a public park, and therefore excluding dogs could 

significantly reduce available dog walking space for owners’. 

3.22    The consultation shows that there are public spaces where the control of dogs can be 

cause for concern, particularly children’s playgrounds and school grounds. However the 

appropriateness and practicality of such controls needs further detailed consideration. 

There will be cost implications attributable to controls not least ensuring the areas 

concerned are properly enclosed or otherwise demarcated, sign posted and other 

provisions such as ‘tieing up posts’. Again some of these public spaces will be privately 

owned, for example by Registered Social landlords, Woodland Trust, NRW etc and there 

will be an expectation for any costs to be borne by the landowner. 

3.23    It is therefore recommended that a further approach is made to the stakeholders with 

responsibility for the areas under consideration, including relevant sections of the council, 

together with each Town and Community Council, to inform of the findings of the 

Page 25



6 
 

consultation and seek their view on the need for controls, if any, the nature of such 

controls and the location(s) concerned. 

 4. EQUALITY AND FUTURE GENERATIONS EVALUATION, (includes social justice, 

safeguarding and corporate parenting): 

 

4.1 The completed ‘Equalities & Future Generations Evaluation’ form is provided as Appendix 

Three, attached. 

 

4.2 There is a clear need to consider carefully the potential impact of a PSPO on different 

sections of our communities. Consultation responses include concerns for persons with 

certain disabilities not being able to pick up dog faeces, and consideration will need to be 

given to the application of appropriate exemptions in any draft PSPO. A common theme in 

the responses was concern regarding the impact of restricting access to parks, playing 

fields etc may have on persons with mobility issues. Walking dogs in such areas is cited 

as benefiting both dog and the owner.This will be conveyed to the stakeholders to take 

account of in their Dogs on Leads / Exclusion Area considerations. Any PSPO will need to 

ensure the varied needs of our communities are considered, positively impacting the 

wellbeing goal of a healthier Wales. 

 

5. OPTIONS APPRAISAL: 

 

5.1 To continue using the Monmouthshire County Council (Fouling of Land by Dogs) 

(Monmouthshire) Designation Order (No 1) 1998 or, as proposed, to further fully consider 

the legislative tools available in dealing with dog control issues in the county. 

 

5.2 The findings of the public consultation to help properly inform the next steps. In particular 

engagement with the sections in the council and other stakeholders responsible for public 

spaces, together with Town and Community Councils, to list the areas where controls are 

needed, their nature and reasons why needed. To consider the outcomes of the further 

engagement in a third report to Stronger Communities Select, and to seek endorsement of 

a further public consultation on a draft Public Spaces Protection Order 

 

6. EVALUATION CRITERIA: 

 

6.1 A progress report to Stronger Communities Select one year after implementation of a 

PSPO.  

 

6.2  A PSPO can be made for a maximum duration of up to three years, after which it may be 

extended if certain criteria under the Act are met. This includes that an extension is 

necessary to prevent activity recurring. Extensions can be repeated, with each lasting for a 

maximum of three years. A further consultation process is required if a PSPO time period 

is to be extended. 

 

 

 

 

Page 26



7 
 

7. REASONS: 

 

7.1 To ensure fair, transparent, efficient and effective discharge of powers available to the 

Council under the Act. 

  

8. RESOURCE IMPICATIONS: 

 

8.1 Costs of consultation to be absorbed by existing budgets. If a PSPO for dog controls is 

introduced there will be cost implications including for enclosing or otherwise demarcating 

designated areas, signage and enforcement, to be considered when appropriate in later 

reports. 

 

9. CONSULTEES  

           Social Care & Health DMT 

Strategic Leadership Team 

Head of Public Protection 

Head of Commercial, Property, Fleet & Facilities 

Head of Waste & Street Services 

Monitoring Officer and Head of Legal Services 

Chief Operating Officer for Mon Life 

Environment & Culture Manager  

Head of Governance, Engagement and Improvement 

Youth Offending Team Service Manager 

 

10. BACKGROUND PAPERS: 

 

           Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and  Policing Act 2014: Anti-social behaviour powers 

Statutory guidance for frontline professionals. Updated August 2019. 

 

           Report to Strong Communities Select Committee ‘Public Spaces Protection Order’ for Dog 

Controls, 12th March 2020. 

 

11 AUTHOR: Huw Owen, Principal Environmental Health Officer 

 

12. CONTACT DETAILS: 

 Tel:  01873 735433 

 E-mail: huwowen@monmouthshire.gov.uk  

 

Appendices 

 

Appendix One: Public consultation on plans to introduce a PSPO on dog controls in the county, 

26th July to 26th October 2020, including results analysis. 

 

Appendix Two: Consultation response from Dogs Trust dated 13th August 2021. 

 

Appendix Three: Equality & Future Generations Evaluation 

Page 27

mailto:huwowen@monmouthshire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Confirmation of Minutes of 5th Meeting held on 30th June 2022  (Chairman)
	8 Public Spaces Protection Order For Dog Controls In Monmouthshire  (Eifion Jones)
	PSPO Report 10.3.22. highlighted docx (1) (1)


